IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant-Appellant,

v.

KEITH A. SELDIN,

Respondent-Appellee.

TFB File No. 86-20,097 (15A)

Case No.: 69,956

Depu

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

DAVID M. BARNOVITZ Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 915 Middle River Drive Suite 602 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33304 (305) 564-3944

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Tallahassee, FL 32301-8226 (904) 222-5286

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar Tallahassee, FL 32301-8226 (904) 222-5286

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

In August, 1983, respondent was retained to render legal services in connection with the administration of a decedent's estate. During the course of his representation he:

1. Stole \$10,000.00 from the estate.

2. Conspired with his then lady friend (now wife) to defraud real estate brokers out of a commission relating to the sale of an estate asset.

3. Advised the personal representative to commit a misdemeanor by paying a finder's fee directly to a real estate salesperson cutting out a broker or brokers.

4. Requested that the personal representative forward funds to pay a claim to a third party who respondent represented in a separate matter. At the time respondent requested such funds his third party claimant-client had not filed a claim against the estate nor addressed any claim or invoice to any corporation in which the decedent was interested.

5. Notarized two (2) estate deeds outside the presence of the signatory thereto thereby committing misdemeanors.

Except for the theft, the foregoing was admitted by respondent either by responses to the bar's requests for admissions or by stipulation at the final hearing (3., 5.-9., 13., 15., 34., 35.).*

The theft was established through clear and convincing evidence. One of the estate assets consisted of commercial realty located in Palm Beach County. It was the subject of an exclusive listing agreement executed by decedent which survived his death (bar's exhibit 1 in evidence).

*All page references are to trial transcript.

Upon learning of decedent's passing, one Thomas E. Lee, Jr., an attorney admitted to practice in Florida for 36-37 years, who had served as a Circuit Court Judge in Dade County for approximately 12 years and as State Beverage Director for 2 years, determined to purchase the subject commercial property (26-28). He expressed his interest directly to respondent whose office was on the same floor as Mr. Lee's and who Mr. Lee learned was representing the estate (28). A contract of sale was executed and expressly provided:

 $\begin{array}{c} \mbox{COMMISSION TO BROKER: The seller hereby recognizes} \\ \hline \mbox{NONE} & \mbox{as the broker in this transaction....} \\ \hline \mbox{(bar's exhibit 3 in evidence).} \end{array}$

Mr. Lee explained the provision relating to broker participation as follows:

Q. What is your recollection as to that provision? A. I think my secretary prepared this contract. I had dealt with Mr. Seldin and there was no broker involved and I didn't want anybody claiming a commission against me either (30, 31).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, respondent paid \$10,000.00 to his wife, Betty Boneparth Seldin as a finder's fee for allegedly bringing about the sale to Mr. Lee. Mr. Lee testified that the only role played by Mrs. Seldin regarding the subject transaction was to meet Mr. Lee at the property for purposes of an inspection (32, 33).

In a most remarkable defense, respondent urged that the \$10,000.00 so disbursed did not constitute a theft from the estate but rather a fraud on one or two brokers either or both of whom would have had legitimate claims to a real estate commission had respondent's wife been the procuring cause of the sale to Mr. Lee (13). Thus, respondent

-2-

readily admitted that to avoid recognizing a commission to the broker holding the exclusive listing agreement executed by decedent (bar's exhibit 1 in evidence) respondent advised the personal representative to pay a finder's fee directly to respondent's wife, a misdemeanor under Section 475.42, Fla. Stat. (see paragraphs g, n, o, p, bar's requests for admissions admitted to by respondent). To enhance the appearance that his wife was the procuring cause of the sale to Mr. Lee, respondent entered into a separate exclusive listing contract with his wife (bar's exhibit 2 in evidence) which, though executed after Mr. Lee had expressed his interest in purchasing the subject property, expressly excluded Mr. Lee from such listing agreement, a fraud on the second listing broker.

In an attempt to establish that respondent was guilty of fraud rather than theft, both respondent and respondent's wife testified at the final hearing each contending that Mrs. Seldin was the procuring cause of the sale to Mr. Lee. Neither could explain, however, why, if Mrs. Seldin was the procuring cause, Mr. Lee had expressly recited in the contract of sale that no broker was entitled to a commission as a result of the transaction (51, 53, 54, 68 and 69). Both conceded that Mr. Lee played no part in and was not privy to respondent's scheme of fraud (48, 51, 68). Respondent's wife admitted that at the time of the alleged scheme to defraud one or both listing brokers out of their portion of the commission she knew her actions to constitute criminality (54).

The referee expressly found:

The testimony was clear and convincing that Boneparth played no part in procuring the purchaser or in any way involved that would justify a real estate

-3-

commission or finder's fee of \$10,000.00. Boneparth's participation was merely to show to the purchaser the aforementioned real estate parcel at the request of respondent who was approached by the purchaser for showing the property (referee's report, page 3).

After the referee reported his findings of guilt of each and every count set forth in the bar's complaint, upon the sanction stage of the proceeding the bar objected to the receipt and consideration of six (6) character letters submitted by the respondent, copies of which had not theretofore been supplied to the bar. The bar objected to receipt and consideration of such letters on the basis of <u>Hathaway v. The Florida</u> <u>Bar</u>, 184 So.2d 426 (Fla. 1966). The referee received such letters over the bar's objection (17, 111-113).

The referee recommended that respondent receive a one (1) year suspension from The Florida Bar, make restitution of the \$10,000.00 stolen from the estate and that respondent take and pass the ethics portion of the bar exam. The bar seeks review contending that disbarment is the appropriate discipline.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The cumulative effect of respondent's thievery and other violations mandate his disbarment. Precedent and Florida's Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions justify such discipline.

The predicate for the referee's recommended discipline is defective and inconsistent. Firstly, it relies to some measure upon "character letters" improperly received and considered over the bar's objection and secondly, it includes what the referee characterized as respondent's "believable sincerity in admitting his wrongdoing," an admission that was never forthcoming. In fact, respondent never admitted to the most serious charge of theft and persisted throughout the proceeding in insisting that there was some basis for taking the money he stole, a fact belied by the evidence and explicitly rejected by the referee.

In 1980 this court gave fair warning to the bar that in cases of misappropriation "henceforth we will not be reluctant to disbar an attorney... even though no client is injured." The bar respectfully suggests that the court has demonstrated a reluctance to enforce its warning and submits that failure to disbar in theft cases so undermines public confidence in the discipline process as to irreparably damage our profession.

-5-

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS CASE WARRANT THE IMPOSITION OF A DISBARMENT.

It is a sad and remarkable commentary when an attorney defends a bar disciplinary proceeding by urging as a defense to theft charges that he did not steal but rather defrauded and convinced his client to commit a crime in furtherance of the fraud. Such is the case at bar.

Appellee urges that at worst (and at best) he openly conspired with his real estate salesperson wife to defraud at least one and perhaps two brokers of a commission and then convinced his client to join the conspiracy by paying a finder's fee directly to appellee's wife, a misdemeanor (see paragraphs 1 through 16, inclusive, of the bar's complaint, all admitted to by appellee). Thus, to mask his theft, appellee was quite prepared to expose his client to criminal jeopardy. It is respectfully submitted that this conduct, alone, warrants a disbarment. What conduct could be more destructive to society than attorneys hatching criminal conspiracies and counseling their clients to violate criminal statutes.

The harsh reality is that appellee stole \$10,000.00 from his client. He took the money under the guise that his wife, a real estate salesperson, had earned a commission upon the sale of estate realty when, in fact, she played no part in procuring the purchaser. At the time of the theft appellee had been practicing law since 1977, first with several firms in New York City, then with a firm in Miami and finally in his own practice and was experiencing no financial duress

-6-

(71-73). He offered no excuse for his theft maintaining his innocence even in light of the purchaser's unequivocal testimony and documentary evidence establishing clearly and convincingly that there was no basis for appellee's misappropriation (see testimony of Thomas E. Lee, Jr., Esquire, 26-33 and the contract of sale expressly negating broker participation, bar's exhibit 3 in evidence). There was no evidence of restitution.

It appears axiomatic that disbarment is the appropriate discipline for attorneys who indulge in theft from clients. <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Davis</u>, 474 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 1985), <u>The Florida Bar v. Bond</u>, 460 So.2d 375 (Fla. 1984), <u>The Florida Bar v. Ross</u>, 417 So.2d 985 (Fla. 1982), <u>The Florida Bar v. Stillman</u>, 401 So.2d 1306 (Fla. 1981), <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Rhodes</u>, 355 So.2d 774 (Fla. 1978).

While appellee's theft, alone, in the bar's view, warrants disbarment, certainly the cumulative effect of the other violations found by the referee would seem to mandate such result. In addition to the theft, respondent knowingly and intentionally defrauded at least one and perhaps two brokers of commissions to which one or both were entitled by virtue of exclusive listing agreements (bar's exhibits 1 and 2 in evidence), advised his personal representative to commit a misdemeanor by cutting out the brokers through a direct payment to a salesperson and committed misdemeanors by notarizing deeds outside the presence of the signatory thereto. The totality of violations must be weighed in determining proper discipline. <u>The Florida Bar v. Harden</u>, 448 So.2d 1017 (Fla. 1984).

-7-

Florida's Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions mandate that appellee be disbarred. Rule 4.11 provides for disbarment "when a lawyer intentionally or knowingly converts client property regardless of injury or potential injury." Rule 5.11 provides that disbarment is appropriate when "a lawyer engages in any other intentional conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation that seriously adversely reflects on the lawyer's fitness to practice law." It is respectfully submitted that appellee's theft, his knowingly and intentionally defrauding brokers of their commission entitlements, his advising a client to commit a misdemeanor and his conflict in representing a creditor against his client-estate constitutes such intentional conduct as contemplated by Rule 5.11.

Rule 7.1 provides for disbarment "when a lawyer intentionally engages in conduct that is a violation of a duty owed as a professional with the intent to obtain a benefit for the lawyer or another, and causes serious or potentially serious injury to a client, the public or the legal system." Certainly appellee's theft constitute a violation of a duty owed as a professional. Equally certain is the fact that such theft was intended to obtain a benefit for appellee and his wife. It is respectfully submitted that it can not be questioned but that such conduct caused serious injury to appellee's client. The bar suggests that any theft by any attorney, under any circumstances, causes serious injury to the public and the legal system. Nothing shakes public confidence more than the betrayal by an attorney of his special position of trust and confidence.

-8-

Despite the fact that Rule 4.11 provides for disbarment "regardless of injury or potential injury" this Court has, on occasion, imposed discipline other than disbarment in theft cases where it perceived cooperation on the part of the respondent, determined that restitution had been made or concluded that the funds of which the client was deprived could not be traced to the attorney's pocket. See The Florida Bar v. Pincket, 398 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1981), The Florida Bar v. Perri, 435 So.2d 827 (Fla. 1983) and The Florida Bar v. Wagner, No. 66,037 (Fla. Oct. 16, 1986). No such circumstance exists in the case at bar. Notwithstanding the referee's finding to the contrary, which will be discussed in later argument, the appellee did not cooperate with the bar, maintaining his innocence in regard to the theft charge despite the clear and convincing testimony from Mr. Lee and the documentary evidence hereinabove enumerated. There was no evidence of any restitution. As for personally benefitting from the money he misappropriated, appellee, though denying in his pleadings that the payment he made to his wife was to further his own financial and/or personal interests, conceded upon being questioned at the final hearing that his wife's receipt of the money furthered her financial and personal interests and by virtue of the marriage relationship furthered his own personal and financial interests (37-39).

If the Court determines to examine the record for mitigation despite its pronouncements in <u>The Florida Bar v. Breed</u>, 378 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1980) and <u>Pincket</u>, supra where the Court warned of disbarment consequences despite client injury and despite restitution, then it is respectfully submitted that the Court should examine the aggravating

-9-

factors specified in Rule 9.22 of <u>Florida's Standards for Imposing</u> <u>Lawyer Sanctions</u>. In so doing, it is submitted that the Court will find that such factors include a dishonest and selfish motive (9.22(b)); a pattern of misconduct (9.22(c)); multiple offenses (9.22(d)); submission of false evidence by fabricating an entitlement to the monies he stole (9.22(f)); refusal to acknowledge wrongful nature of conduct (9.22(g)); vulnerability of victim who in this case was a personal representative relying upon appellee's representation that a fee was due to his wife (9.22(h)); substantial experience in the practice of law evidenced by respondent's practice with several firms from the time of his admission to the New York Bar in 1977 (9.22(i)) and appellee's indifference to making restitution (9.22(j)).

It is respectfully submitted that the cumulative effect of appellee's violations, the extremely serious nature thereof and the aggravating factors existing in this case mandate appellee's disbarment.

II. THE REFEREE'S DISCIPLINE RECOMMENDATION IS BASED UPON IMPROPER CHARACTER EVIDENCE AND INCONSISTENT FINDINGS.

In arriving at his recommended discipline, the referee received into evidence, over the bar's objection, six (6) character letters. In so doing, it is respectfully submitted, the referee erred.

The bar was not supplied with copies of the letters prior to their submission and was not afforded an opportunity to cross examine the letter writers. In <u>Hathaway v. The Florida Bar</u>, 184 So.2d 426 (Fla. 1966), it was determined that similar letters were inadmissible over the bar's objection. Absent an opportunity to cross examine character witnesses, there is no way that the bar or the court can determine what the witness was told, if anything, about the respondent's misconduct and any effect such misconduct might have upon the witnesses' character assessment.

Illustrative of the foregoing is the testimony of the character witnesses who actually appeared at the trial. One such witness, James C. Hill, Jr. testified that his opinion of appellee would not change regardless of any information he might learn concerning misdemeanors committed by appellee (78). Another, Joyce Bartlett, upon learning of appellee's self-proclaimed fraud and deceit, conceded that such conduct would not speak of a person of high character and good reputation (82). Robert Becht, a third character witness, opined that he would not regard appellee's misconduct as bespeaking of a good character and reputation (87). Scott Kramer, an attorney who was called as a character witness, did not regard it as dishonest for an attorney to defraud realtors out

-11-

of a commission (95) and would not regard as criminal conduct the taking of a finder's fee despite the fact the finder played no part in bringing about the sale (96). Mary Hinton, another character witness, did not know how to assess appellee's character when informed of appellee's own version of his misconduct (99).

With the testimony of a majority of appellee's live character witnesses, in the bar's view, tarnished, one must speculate as to the weight afforded to the letters received by the referee and his reference in his report to "the favorable recommendations from civic leaders in his community." (Referee's Report, page 6).

One must also question the referee's second reported basis for his discipline recommendation, viz., "the respondent's believable sincerity in admitting his wrongdoing" (Referee's Report, page 6). In fact, appellee never admitted to the most serious charge for which he was found guilty, viz., the outright theft of \$10,000.00 from his client. He denied it in his answer, his responses to the bar's requests for admissions and at the trial. Thus, while on the one hand referring to appellee's "believable sincerity in admitting his wrongdoing" the referee, at the same time, expressly found that:

(d) Respondent has partly denied Count 2 by disputing the allegation that Boneparth played no part in procuring the purchaser for said estate property... (Referee's Report, page 2).

(e) The testimony was clear and convincing that Boneparth played no part in procuring the purchaser or in any way involved that would justify a real estate commission or a finder's fee of \$10,000.00... (Referee's Report, page 3). (k) Respondent by way of explanation to Count 5 asserts a factual dispute as to whether Boneparth played a part in procuring the purchaser of the subject real estate. As previously determined in paragraph (e) Boneparth's participation does not justify respondent's actions (Referee's Report, page 4).

The fact remains that appellee stole \$10,000.00 from his client and his only admission to wrongdoing was to violations concocted to hide his theft.

The referee directed a line of inquiry to appellee which was telling. It revealed that appellee had practiced law for about 4 1/2 years in New York with different firms (72), came to Florida and practiced several more years before striking out on his own (73) and was not suffering any financial duress at the time of his theft (73). Thus, appellee was neither naive nor financially stressed when he stole.

It is respectfully submitted that far harsher discipline than that recommended would have been considered by the referee absent his mistaken reliance upon an admission of misconduct which does not exist and character letters which should not have been received and considered. III. DISBARMENT SHOULD BE IMPOSED IN EVERY CASE INVOLVING THEFT BY AN ATTORNEY IN ANY FORM AND FROM ANY SOURCE.

In 1980, this Court issued fair warning to the bar that "henceforth we will not be reluctant to disbar an attorney for this type of offense (misuse of clients' funds) even though no client is injured." <u>The</u> <u>Florida Bar v. Breed</u>, 378 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1980). In so doing, it is respectfully submitted that the Court was merely confirming that which the general public and bar membership had always taken for granted, viz., that an attorney caught stealing was disbarred. Such, it is respectfully submitted, is a universal perception which when proven inaccurate so undermines public confidence and trust as to demean our profession and subject it to ridicule.

Having heralded the demise of minor punishment in theft cases the Court proceeded selectively to ignore its warning and, in the bar's view, demonstrate the very reluctance to disbar it professed to rid itself of in <u>Breed</u>, supra. Thus, in <u>The Florida Bar v. Pincket</u>, 398 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1981), the Court ordered a two (2) year suspension in a clear theft case on the basis of the respondent's cooperation and partial restitution, announcing that notwithstanding its departure, it was not retreating from <u>Breed</u>, supra. Justice Alderman agreed with the bar "that the appropriate sanction for this serious misconduct is disbarment." Having suggested in <u>Breed</u> that disbarment would be imposed "even though no client is injured" and supplemented its notice of disbarment consequences in <u>Pincket</u>, supra, "even where there is restitution", the message seemed clear. Theft would merit disbarment

-14-

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