IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ISSUE I ON CROSS-APPEAL
ISSUE II ON CROSS-APPEAL
ISSUE I ON APPEAL
ISSUE II ON APPEAL
ISSUE III ON APPEAL
REQUEST FOR RELIEF
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

١

TABLE OF CITATIONS

CASE_NAME

Alcott v. Wagner & Becker, Inc., 328 So.2d 549 (Fla. 1976)
Application of Harper, 84 So.2d 700, 706, 54 A.L.R.2d 1272 (Fla. 1956)20
Bergh v. Bergh, 160 So.2d 145 (Fla. 1st DCA 1964)13
Bernal v. Department of Professional Regulation, So.2d (Fla. 3d DCA Dec. 29, 1987) [13 FLW 23, 24]
Bowling v. Department of Insurance, 394 So.2d 165, 172 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981) 14, 15
Campbell v. Central Florida Zoological Society, 432 So.2d 684 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983)24
<u>Ferris v. Turlington</u> , So.2d (Fla., July 16, 1987) [12 FLW 393] 11, 14
Florida East Coast Railway v. Michini, 239 So.2d 452 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962)13
Hathaway v. The Florida Bar, 184 So.2d 426 (Fla. 1966)
National Airlines, Inc. v. Oscar E. Dooly Associates, Inc., 160 So.2d 53 (Fla. 3d DCA 1964)12
Pensacola Finance Company v. Simpson, 82 Fla. 368, 90 So. 381 (1921)
Salter v. Knowles, 97 So.2d 138 (Fla. 2d DCA 1957)
Smith Real Estate, Inc. v. Gables Venetian Waterways, Inc., 98 So.2d 372 (Fla. 3d DCA 1957)12
<u>Spicer v. Metropolitan Dade County</u> , 458 So.2d 792 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984) 23, 24
State v. Murrell, 74 So.2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1954) 26, 27

<u>State ex rel. The Florida Bar v. Bass,</u> 106 So.2d 77, 78 (Fla. 1958)14
<u>State ex rel. The Florida Bar v. Dawson</u> , 111 So.2d 427, 431 (Fla. 1959)23
<u>State ex rel. The Florida Bar v. Junkin</u> , 89 So.2d 481, 482 (Fla. 1956)
<u>The Florida Bar v. Abramson</u> , 199 So.2d 457, 460 (Fla. 1967)
The Florida Bar v. Berger, 358 So.2d 14 (Fla. 1978)22
The Florida Bar v. Budish, 421 So.2d 497, 501 (Fla. 1982)
The Florida Bar v. Hirsch, 342 So.2d 970 (1971)(Fla. 1977)
<u>The Florida Bar v. Inglis</u> , 471 So.2d 38 (Fla. 1985)20
The Florida Bar v. Marks, 492 So.2d 1327 (Fla. 1986)
<u>The Florida Bar v. Neely</u> , 372 So.2d 89 (Fla. 1979)11, 18, 22, 28, 29
<u>The Florida Bar v. Pahules</u> , 238 So.2d 130, 132 (Fla. 1970)
<u>The Florida Bar v. Papy</u> , 358 So.2d 4 (Fla. 1978)28
<u>The Florida Bar v. Penn</u> , 421 So.2d 497 (Fla. 1982)
<u>The Florida Bar v. Rayman</u> , 238 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1970)11
The Florida Bar v. Randolph, 238 So.2d 635, 639 (Fla. 1970)
Vilas v. Vilas, 153 Fla. 102, 13 So.2d 807 (1943)13

MISCELLANEOUS

Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, Rule 3-7.5(e)(1)24

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Florida Bar's Statement of the Case and Facts omits many critical details necessary to a complete understanding of this appeal and generally misinterprets what facts actually were adduced below as well as the import of the special referee's rulings. Because of this pervasive inaccuracy, Appellee/Cross-Appellant Keith Seldin ("Seldin" or "Mr. Seldin") finds it necessary to provide the following Statement of the Case and Facts.

This Statement will examine the facts as they are germane to the specific allegations in The Florida Bar's five-count complaint. The facts germane to these various counts, however, will not be examined in sequence, for certain of the counts are overlapping and a sequential examination of the facts would result in unnecessary repetition. The counts germane to Counts II and V will therefore be examined first, followed by an examination of the facts relevant to Counts I, III and IV. Finally, Seldin shall set forth the mitigating factors relied upon by the special referee in his report.

COUNTS II AND V

The real focus of The Florida Bar's disciplinary action concerns certain events involving the sale of real property, i.e., an old liquor store building, formerly owned by one Bob Stephenson on Bridge Street, Jupiter, Florida. Since Mr. Stephenson committed suicide in September, 1983, this property passed to Stephenson's Estate, the personal representative of which was the decedent's sister, Kathy Mills, and the attorney for which was Mr. Seldin. [R: 28, 64]¹

¹ References to the transcript of the proceedings below shall be made by the following designation: "[R:__]"

After Mr. Stephenson's death, Thomas E. Lee, Jr., a local property investor, became interested in the liquor store property. Just how he became interested in that property, however, is subject to some dispute.

Betty Boneparth, who shared office space with Seldin and subsequently married him in December of 1983, testified that she had known Bob Stephenson before his death in September of 1983. Their association came about because he had seen an advertisement for her promotional business and needed some speciality advertising. When they finally met, Ms. Boneparth disclosed that she was also a realtor. He, in turn, expressed a certain dissatisfaction with the way his current realty company was handling his listings and asked her to handle his property. [R: 43]

Of course, sometime after she made his acquaintance, Bob Stephenson killed himself in September of 1983. At about that time, Ms. Boneparth had a conversation with Mr. Lee in the hallway of their office building where he mentioned that he purchased investment properties. [R: 43-44] She, in turn, informed him that the Stephenson property on Bridge Street was available. While he knew of the property, he had no information on it. Therefore, Ms. Boneparth advised Mr. Lee that Seldin was the attorney for the Estate and that he could provide Lee with the appropriate details. [R: 44-45] Ms. Boneparth also testified:

> Normally acting as a Realtor, I would have to protect myself. I would have gone to the person handling the Estate, the attorney handling the Estate and said Judge Lee let me get back to you with the details.

> But, in this case, since he was right next door to Keith you know I really didn't feel that my interest was at stake, there was really not a need to run and register it with Keith which I normally would have done in a situation like that.

> Because I saw in my mind, here was (a) potential buyer for the Bridge Street Property, I said Judge Lee, let me speak to Keith and he will give you the details. [R: 44-45]

In other words, because of her close personal relationship with both Seldin and Lee, Boneparth did not need to take any immediate actions to insure that a commission was duly paid her for her efforts. [R: 44-45,48]

According to Ms. Boneparth, Mr. Lee eventually got the information he required and was sufficiently interested to inspect the premises. She then obtained the keys and showed him the property. She was also subsequently involved in establishing the purchase price for the property, for Seldin relied upon her expertise as to such matters in setting that price. [R: 46] Thus, Ms. Boneparth testified, she regarded herself as the "procuring cause" for the sale of the property because:

> [I]n real estate, it's my understanding that if you bring a ready and willing buyer to a seller and it results in a contract and the contract is closed, then you're entitled to a commission and you are in fact the procuring cause. [R: 46-47]

Thomas E. Lee, Jr.'s recollection of these events differs (perhaps) in a very slight way. For example, when asked how he learned that Seldin was representing the Stephenson Estate, Lee equivocally stated: "I don't know, maybe Keith told me. I could see him in the parking lot or in the hall." [R: 29] However, while Mr. Lee initially stated that he had perhaps learned that Seldin was representing the Estate from Seldin himself, he subsequently admitted that he could also have learned about the property's availability from Betty Boneparth. [R: 32]

He did subsequently inspect the premises with Ms. Boneparth for about ten to fifteen minutes. As a result of that inspection, his interest was sufficiently piqued to make an offer to Seldin for the property. [R: 31-33]

COUNT I

When Mr. Lee came to him with an offer to purchase the old liquor store building, Seldin telephoned the Estate's Personal Representative, Kathy Mills, and told her that Ms. Boneparth had found an interested buyer. He also advised Ms. Mills at that time that should the matter go to contract, a commission would be due to her broker, Fidelity Properties, for whom Ms. Boneparth worked. [R: 64]

During that conversation Kathy Mills prevailed upon Seldin to try to save the Estate some money. Thus, as a result of that conversation with Mills, Seldin convinced Ms. Boneparth to accept a commission or finder's fee directly from the Estate in a lesser amount in order to save the Estate money and not pay what would ordinarily be due to the broker (\$31,500.00). [R: 39, 64] Thus, while he candidly admitted that his advice to Kathy Mills was in error and was his fault alone, he did save the Estate money "because of personal acquaintances and friendship." [R: 64]

COUNT III

Seldin admitted that he had notarized two documents not in the presence of the signatory party. At the time of the first incident the signator, Kathy Mills, was pregnant and did not want to leave the house. He therefore told her that, considering the circumstances, she should just sign the document and return it to him for notarization. The second time also occurred when she was ill, and Seldin simply had her do the same thing. [R: 67]

- 4 -

COUNT IV

At the time he was representing the Stephenson Estate, Seldin was also representing one Dennis Setterfield in divorce proceedings. Setterfield had been employed by the decedent, Bob Stephenson, to build and manage the lounge which was attached to the liquor store. [R: 65] After Stephenson's death, Setterfield submitted to Seldin a bill for his labors and wanted to be paid. Because he was essential to the operation of the lounge (which generated the revenues for the Estate), Seldin rationalized that payment was also necessary and helpful to the Estate. However, Setterfield never received the money. [R: 66]

Seldin again candidly admitted that he had been wrong to do so and should have recognized the impropriety of representing these two clients at the same time. Nevertheless, there is no proof whatsoever in the record that Setterfield's claim was not otherwise valid and due.

MITIGATING FACTORS

Keith Seldin is married to Betty Boneparth Seldin and has one child, a two year old daughter. [R: 74] He is a charter member of the Jupiter-Tequesta Jaycees and its first Vice-President. He is also President of the Exchange Club, which sponsors the Jupiter-Tequesta Tennis Tournament, the proceeds of which go for a scholarship fund for needy children. He is also the Vice-President of the Reformed Temple of Jupiter and its general counsel. [R: 56]

He also serves as liaison between the legal community and local realtors. [R: 57] He has never been disciplined before, either in New York or in Florida [R: 74] and is held in high regard in his local community.

- 5 -

For example, James C. Hill of the Florida House of Representatives testified that Keith Seldin is a "contributing leader of our community" and "has an outstanding reputation of giving in the community and performing in various civic organizations." [R: 75]

Joyce Bartlett, the head of the Jupiter Association of Realtors, testified that Seldin enjoys a good reputation in the community, personally and professionally," and is "honest and upstanding." [R: 81]

Another local attorney who has been opposing counsel to Seldin, Scott Kramer, opined that Seldin has an "excellent" reputation in the community and further noted that, while he may have done wrong, he did indeed save the Estate money. [R: 89, 94]

Mary Hinton, the Mayor of Jupiter, testified that Seldin had provided numerous young families with legal services they otherwise could not have afforded. [R: 97-98] Accordingly to Ms. Hinton, his reputation "within the community is very good"; his course of conduct has always been "outstanding"; and he "has volunteered a tremendous amount of time." [R: 97-99]

Another Jupiter attorney and former member of the Town Council, Charles Burns, also opined that Seldin had a "very good reputation." [R: 99, 100, 103]

These mitigating factors², coupled with Seldin's own candid admissions, prompted the following finding by the special referee:

² Seldin proferred numerous other persons' written testimonials of his character and reputation within the community. [Indeed, Seldin's character and reputation evidence stands unrebutted by the Bar.] However, apparently because these letters had not previously been presented to the Bar's counsel, their admission was denied by the referee. True and accurate copies of these letters are included in the Appendix as Composite Appendix "B."

This Referee is mindful of the Bar's recommendation for disbarment; however, I feel in view of the Respondent's absence of any adverse conduct prior to or subsequent to the conduct involving the Stephenson Estate, as well as the favorable recommendations from civic leaders in his community and the Respondent's own civic leadership endeavors subsequent to the conduct here complained of, disbarment would be too harsh and punitive. Further considered by this Referee as impressionable was the Respondent's believable sincerity in admitting his wrongdoing, the seriousness of same and his remorseful and cooperative attitude. [Report of Referee, p. 6, a copy of which is attached to this Brief as Appendix "A."]

The special referee therefore recommended that Seldin be suspended from the practice of law for one year and thereafter until he shall prove his rehabilitation and for an indefinite period until he shall pay the cost of this proceeding and make restitution to his client, the Estate of Robert A. Stephenson, in the amount of \$10,000 and also attain a passing score on the ethics portion of The Florida Bar exam. [Appendix "A," p. 6]

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I ON CROSS-APPEAL

The special referee's findings of fact on Counts II and V, in particular his finding that Betty Boneparth played no part in procuring the purchaser for the sale of the Stephenson Estate property are not supported by competent, substantial evidence appropriate to a clear and convincing evidentiary standard. Quite the contrary, the testimony of Thomas Lee is equivocal and ambiguous. Since the Bar's disciplinary action cannot be sustained by evasive and inconclusive testimony, <u>see e.g.</u>, <u>State ex rel The</u> <u>Florida Bar v. Junkin</u>, 89 So.2d 41 (Fla. 1956), these findings of fact and the conclusions of law based on these findings should be stricken.

ISSUE II ON CROSS-APPEAL

Since the special referee's recommendation of a one-year suspension is predicated upon his conclusion that Seldin was guilty on all five counts, and since Counts II and V are not supported by competent, substantial evidence, the recommended suspension should be reduced to a period of time more commensurate with Seldin's violations. This is particularly so when one considers the absence of any adverse conduct prior to or subsequent to the conduct involving the Stephenson Estate, the many favorable recommendations from civic leaders in his community as to his character and reputation and Seldin's own civic leadership endeavors.

ISSUE I ON APPEAL

Disbarment is an extreme measure and should be resorted to only in cases where the lawyer demonstrates an attitude or course of conduct wholly inconsistent with approved professional standards; it must be clear that he is one who should never be at the Bar. <u>The Florida Bar v. Penn</u>, 421 So.2d 497 (Fla. 1982). Here, even if one views the evidence in a light most favorable toward sustaining the referee's findings of fact and conclusions, the conduct complained of is an isolated anomaly in Seldin's otherwise spotless career. Given the many mitigating factors in his favor, disbarment is unwarranted under the circumstances of this case, particularly if the Court agrees that Counts II and V are not supported by competent, sustantial evidence.

ISSUE II ON APPEAL

Contrary to the Bar's argument, the special referee did not err in admitting into evidence certain of Seldin's character and reputation letters in this quasijudicial administrative proceeding. If any error occurred, such error is harmless because the evidence complained of is merely cumulative to other testimony. Further, even though the referee may have improperly concluded that Seldin was guilty of commiting some acts which the evidence does not otherwise demonstrate, he is still best situated to evaluate Seldin's character and recommend an appropriate punishment therefor.

ISSUE III ON APPEAL

The Bar's argument for "automatic" disbarment cites the very cases which defeat the argument. It concentrates solely on the idea of punishment to the exclusion of

- 9 -

corollary principles of securing justice and rehabilitation for the accused. Thus, even when the facts are viewed in a light most favorable toward sustaining the referee's decision, disbarment is not justified under the facts of this case, particularly when one considers the many mitigating factors in Seldin's favor. Further, should the Court conclude that Counts II and V are not supported by competent, substantial evidence, the recommended penalty, if anything, should be reduced.

ISSUE I ON CROSS-APPEAL

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